S222314

No	1 House Beaute March
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE	NOV - 3 2014
STATE OF CALIFORNIA	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
SOLUS INDUSTRIAL INNOVATIONS, LLC, et al.,	Deputy
Petitioners,	
v.	. WA
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY,	NIA,
Respondent;	
THE PEOPLE,	
Real Party in Interest.	it.
	1

SUPREME COURT

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division 3, No. 0047661

Superior Court, County of Orange Civil Case No. 30-2012-00581868-CU-MC-CXC The Honorable Kim G. Dunning

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TONY RACKAUCKAS, DISTRICT ATTORNEY COUNTY OF ORANGE, STATE OF CALIFORNIA BY: KELLY A. ROOSEVELT DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY STATE BAR NO. 222969

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an egregious case of employer workplace safety violations that resulted in the untimely and horrific death of two workers at a commercial plastics manufacturing facility in Rancho Santa Margarita on March 19, 2009. (Compl. ¶¶ 1-51.)³ Both men died instantly when an improperly installed and maintained residential water heater that was being used to melt plastic exploded. (Compl. ¶¶ 1-39.) The facility was owned, operated and controlled by the Defendants during the relevant time frame from November 2007 when the water heater was installed until its explosion in March 2009.

The Complaint is attached as Exhibit 1 (bates range 0001-0039) to the Appendix of Exhibits re Petition for Writ of Mandate or Other Appropriate Relief (the "Appendix") filed by Defendants in re Case No. G047661 on or about November 19, 2012 in the Fourth Appellate District, Division Three. Citations to "A" are to the page numbers in the Appendix.

A. CalOSHA Referred This Case To Prosecutors For Further Action As Required Under California's Federally Approved Statutory Framework

As required by law, immediately following the tragic deaths of these workers, CalOSHA opened an investigation into the fatalities. (Compl. ¶ 41.) CalOSHA concluded that the deaths were caused by a number of "serious" and "willful" violations of the safety laws and regulations by Defendant Solus Industrial Innovations, LLC ("Solus") and, therefore, filed an administrative action against Solus "and its successors" for civil penalties under Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations in the amount of approximately \$98,000. (Compl. ¶¶ 42-43.) The administrative action is currently stayed. (Compl. ¶ 46.)

In addition to initiating an administrative action against Solus, CalOSHA's Bureau of Investigation (the "BOI"), which is a separate unit within the Division that conducted a further investigation into the worker deaths, referred the case to the Orange County District Attorney's office for additional "appropriate action" as it is required to do pursuant to Labor Code Section 6315, subdivision (g). (Compl. ¶ 44.) Based on this referral, the District Attorney exercised his charging discretion to file criminal charges against two individuals, including Solus' Plant Manager and its Maintenance Supervisor, who were both responsible for orchestrating the plan to employ the residential water heater (instead of an available and

more appropriate commercial boiler, to save costs) and then facilitating the continued unsafe operation of the residential water heater for months on end. (Compl. ¶¶ 1-45.) Both defendants were thereafter indicted on two felony counts of violating Labor Code Section 6425 by the Orange County Grand Jury in the action entitled *People v Faulkinbury & Richardson*, Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 12ZF0159.

On July 6, 2012, the District Attorney further exercised his prosecutorial discretion to file a Civil Complaint alleging four causes of action against all three corporate Defendants for violations of: (1) Labor Code Section 6428; (2) Labor Code Section 6429; (3) Business and Professions Code Section 17200; and (4) Business and Professions Code Section 17500. (Compl. ¶¶ 1-75.)

B. Respondent Court's October 3, 2012 Order Sustained In Part And Overruled In Part The Demurrer To The Complaint

On July 23, 2012, Defendants filed a Demurrer to All Causes of Action Set Out in Plaintiff's Complaint and a Motion to Strike Portions of Plaintiff's Complaint. By way of the Demurrer, the Employers argued that:

(1) the District Attorney has no legal authority to prosecute civil causes of action under Labor Code Sections 6428 and 6429 in the first two causes of action; and (2) that all four causes of action are preempted by federal law.

On October 3, 2012, the trial court entered its order (the "Order") sustaining Defendants' Demurrer to the First and Second Causes of Action

in the Complaint without leave to amend, overruling the Demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action in the Complaint, and denying Defendants' Motion to Strike certain allegations in the Complaint.

Defendants served notice of the Order on October 10, 2012.4

In sustaining Defendants' Demurrer to the First and Second Causes of Action, the trial court held that prosecutors lack standing to pursue civil penalties under Labor Code Section 6428 and 6429. (A0217, A0225-226.) Based on this ruling, the court dismissed the causes of action for civil penalties under Labor Code Sections 6428 and 6429 with prejudice.⁵ The preemption arguments with respect to the first two causes of action were rendered moot and not ruled upon.

The trial court also overruled Defendants' Demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of action in the Complaint, which seek civil penalties for additional wrongs -- separate and apart from the Labor Code violations -- that Petitioners committed in violation of Business and Professions Code Sections 17200 and 17500 (also known as California's Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") or False Advertising Law ("FAL")). Petitioners argued that the causes of action were preempted by federal law. The trial court was

A true and correct copy of the October 3, 2012 Minute Order is attached hereto as Exhibit 4. A true and correct copy of the October 10, 2012 Notice of Ruling is attached hereto as Exhibit 5.

The Fourth District, Division Three, affirmed this ruling on February 24, 2014. The dismissal of the People's causes of action for civil penalties under Labor Code Sections 6428 and 6429 was the subject of a separate petition for review that was denied by this Court on June 18, 2014.

"not persuaded that this is a federal preemption issue" and overruled the Demurrer. (A0219.)

C. Trial Court Certified The Preemption Issue For Review Under Civil Procedure Section 166.1

Pursuant to the parties' request, on November 14, 2012, the trial court entered an order certifying two legal issues presented by the Motions under California Code of Civil Procedure Section 166.1 for early appellate review, finding in pertinent part here:

The Court indicates that in its belief the federal preemption issue raised in Defendants' demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action in the Complaint presents a controlling question of law as to which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion and that appellate resolution of this issue may materially advance the conclusion of the litigation.⁶

D. Fourth District Court Of Appeal Granted Defendants' Writ of Mandate And Reversed The Trial Court Order

On November 19, 2012, Defendants filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate (Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Appellate Case No. G047661) seeking to vacate the Order to the extent it overruled their Demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action on the grounds of preemption. Without hearing or other order, on February 28, 2013, the Fourth District summarily denied the writ petition without decision.

A true and correct copy of the November 14, 2012 Jointly Submitted Order Granting Ex Parte Application for Order Under Code of Civil Procedure 166.1 is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.

This Court subsequently granted the Defendants' petition for review (Supreme Court Case No. S209199) and transferred the case to the Fourth District with directions to enter an order to show cause, which was entered on May 10, 2013. After full briefing and hearing, the Fourth District issued its Opinion granting the Employers' petition on February 24, 2014 and ordering the trial court to vacate its prior order overruling Defendants' Demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action and to enter a new order sustaining such Demurrer "without leave to amend." The Opinion was certified for publication.

The People filed a petition for rehearing on March 11, 2014, arguing, among other things, that the District Court improperly directed the trial court to sustain the Demurrer "without leave to amend." In response, the Fourth District denied the petition for rehearing, but issued a modified order striking the mandate that the Demurrer be sustained "without leave to amend."

E. Fourth District Issues Same Ruling After People's Petition For Review Was Granted With Transfer Order By This Court

On April 8, 2014, the People filed a Petition for Review of the February 24, 2014 Opinion in this Court. (Supreme Court Case No. S217651.) The Court granted the Petition for Review on June 18, 2014 and transferred the cause back to the Fourth District "with directions to reconsider the matter in light of Statutes 1972, chapter 1084, pp.2020-2021."

After further briefing, pursuant to the Supreme Court directive, the matter was resubmitted for decision in the Fourth District. On September 22, 2014, the Fourth District issued its Opinion after transfer (the "Opinion"), holding, for all the same reasons, that California's UCL was preempted. The Opinion was certified for publication and once again directed the Respondent Court to sustain the Demurrer "without leave to amend." The People again filed a petition for rehearing, which resulted in a modified order striking the mandate that the trial court sustain the Demurrer "without leave to amend," but no change of Judgment in the Opinion.

The People hereby petition for review of the Fourth District's September 22, 2014 Opinion.

IV. WHY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD BE GRANTED

Supreme Court review is warranted when it is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. R. Ct. 8.500, subd. (b), subd. (1).) As the court of last resort, the Supreme Court may grant review:

to supervise and control the opinions of the several district courts of appeal, each of which is acting concurrently and independently of the others, and by such supervision to endeavor to secure harmony and uniformity in the decisions, their conformity to the settled rules and principles of law, a uniform rule of decision throughout the state, a correct and uniform construction of the constitution, statutes, and charters, and, in some instances, a final decision by the court of last resort of some doubtful or disputed question of law.

(People v. Davis (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 348.) Review is particularly

important when, as here, the disputed questions of law are ones of statewide impact.

A. The Preemption Issue Is An Issue Of First Impression Important To Pending And Future Prosecutions Throughout The State

The legal questions presented are issues of first impression that impact numerous pending prosecutions and cases currently under investigation by prosecutors, not only in Orange County, but in counties across the state. (See, e.g., People v. Nibbelink Masonry Construction Corp., San Bernardino County Case No. CIVDS1406990 [filed May 23, 2014].) As acknowledged by the Defendants here in their prior successful petition to this Court regarding the same issues, such matters are also a concern to California employers statewide. (Cal. Supreme Court Case No. S209199.) As Defendants pointed out then, and the People agree, a final "disposition of this issue is important for a large number of cases and litigants," thus justifying review by this Court.

B. The Opinion Is Clearly Erroneous And Contrary To Well-Settled Law Governing The UCL And Federal Preemption

The Opinion holds that California's UCL and FAL, including specifically Business and Professions Code Sections 17200 and 17500, are preempted by the Act because these statutes are not incorporated into and adopted as part of California's federally approved workplace safety laws.

(Opinion at pp.11-19.) In reaching this conclusion, however, the Opinion ignores numerous important legal precedents and fails to apply the appropriate presumptions, thus leading to a legally erroneous analysis and result. Review should be granted to correct these clear legal errors.

The UCL Was Enacted In 1933 Under Civil Code Sections 3369 et seq., Not In 1977 As The Opinion States

Despite the directive from this Court to reconsider its prior Opinion in this regard, in support of its most recent holding, the Fourth District's Opinion still states:

Our assessment of whether the district attorney's UCL causes of action are preempted by federal law begins with the observation that the UCL was enacted in 1977 (Stats. 1977.ch. 299,§1,p.1202), which is *after* the Secretary initially approved California's workplace safety plan. Hence, there is no basis to infer that reliance on those provisions as a supplemental remedy for violation of California's workplace safety standards was contemplated as part of the Secretary's initial decision approving California's plan.

The factual predicate to the Fourth District's conclusion is incorrect.

California's UCL was, in fact, originally enacted in 1933 under Civil Code Sections 3369 *et seq*, which is *before* the Secretary initially approved California's workplace safety plan in 1973, not afterwards as the Opinion erroneously states. (*See* Cal. Civ. Code § 3370.1, added by Stats.1972, c. 1004, p. 2021, § 2 [containing UCL civil penalty provisions re-codified in 1977 at Bus. & Prof. Code § 17206]; *Barquis v. Merchants Collection Ass'n of Oakland, Inc.* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 94, 111-113 [explaining legislative

history of UCL]; see also Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 [enacted in 1941].) In 1977, as part of a general reorganization of business regulation statutes, the UCL provisions were merely moved to the Business and Professions Code.

The error is significant. Indeed, under the mistaken belief that the UCL/FAL were enacted after the federal Act or state plan approval, the Court neglected to apply a number of important presumptions, including the *presumption against preemption* that governs laws of general applicability like these that predate federal laws. (*Wyeth v. Levine* (2009) 55 U.S. 555, 565; *People v. PAC Anchor Transp., Inc.* (Cal. Sup. Ct., July 28, 2014) – P.3d --, 2014 WL 3702674; *Brown v. Mortensen* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1052, 1060; *Farm Raised Salmon Cases* (2009) 42 Cal.4th 1077, 1088; *People v. Guiamelon* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 383, 400-407.) The entire framework of the analysis is materially flawed from the outset as a result.

2. The UCL Is Not An Occupational Safety And Health
Standard Or Law That Requires Incorporation Into The
State Plan

The Opinion holds that the UCL is preempted unless and until it is "incorporated" into and "approved" as part of California's occupational safety state plan. (Opinion at pp.16-17.) In so holding, the Fourth District necessarily determined either: (a) that the UCL is a workplace safety law

or standard; or (b) the UCL action is being used in an attempt to enforce workplace safety laws. Either way, the Fourth District's determination is a material misstatement of both fact and well-established law regarding UCL actions.

First, the UCL is *not* a workplace safety law, but rather, a consumer protection law of general applicability which is protected from federal preemption under the historic police powers of the state of California. (*Farm Raised Salmon, supra*, at p.1088.) There can be no federal preemption by federal OSHA laws over a non-occupational safety law or standard such as this. (*Cal. Labor Federation v. Cal. Occupational Safety & Health* (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 1547, 1557 n.8 [confirming that with any law which is "not an occupational safety and health law, there could be no prospect of its federal preemption"].) This is "[b]ecause [federal] OSHA standards by definition govern occupational safety and health issues [and] they do not preempt state laws that regulate other concerns." (*Id.; see also* 62 Fed. Reg. 31159, 31159, 31163 [June 6, 1997].)

Second, contrary to the Opinion, the District Attorney's attempt to seek civil penalties under the UCL is not an attempt to enforce workplace safety laws. To be sure, this Court has routinely held that "a UCL action does not 'enforce' the law on which a claim of unlawful business practice is based." (Rose v. Bank of America (2013) 57 Cal.4th 390, 396; see also Farm Raised Salmon, supra, at p.1095; Stop Youth Addiction, Inc. v. Lucky

Stores, Inc. (1998) 17 Cal.4th 553, 570-576.) Instead, the UCL "borrows' violations of other laws and treats them as unlawful practices that the [UCL] makes *independently* actionable." (Rose, supra, at p.396.) "[T]he UCL does not serve as a mere enforcement mechanism." (Id. at p.397.)

Because the holding in the Opinion is based primarily on the incorrect notion that the UCL is a workplace safety law and/or a law being used to "enforce" workplace safety laws, it is clearly erroneous, thus warranting a review, and reversal, by this Court.

3. No Legal Authority Or Analysis Supports The Holding That California's FAL Is Preempted

Although the Opinion holds that both the UCL and FAL causes of action are preempted, the Opinion fails to separately consider and analyze the asserted preemption with respect to the 17500 cause of action. Review to address this separate and distinct cause of action is warranted. Unlike the People's Third Cause of Action under Section 17200, the People's Fourth Cause of Action under Section 17500 is not predicated on the same violations of California's workplace safety laws, but rather, on a set of false and misleading representations to workers and the public that "resulted in the illegal retention of employees and customers in violation of the unfair competition laws." (Compl. ¶ 73.) The Opinion fails to explain how such an action is preempted under federal OSHA laws, and there is no legal precedent supporting such a ruling.

4. Fourth District's Holding Is Contrary To Congressional Intent And The Federal Agency's Express Views On Preemption

The Opinion also fails to identify any express Congressional intent or legislative history suggesting that Congress intended to preempt California's UCL or FAL when it enacted the federal worker safety Act. This is because there was never such an intent. Indeed, FedOSHA has expressly recognized that it "has no authority to address ... nonoccupational applications" of California state law, including "consumer" protection laws like the UCL and the FAL and has confirmed that "laws of general applicability are not preempted." (62 Fed. Reg. 31159, 31159, 31163 [June 6, 1997].) A federal "agency's interpretation of statutes within its administrative jurisdiction [must be] given presumptive value as a consequence of the agency's special familiarity and presumed expertise with ... legal and regulatory issues." (Yamaha Corp. of Am. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 11.) Despite these directives, the Fourth District did not acknowledge, much less give any weight to, Federal OSHA's views with respect to what is preempted and what is not.

Moreover, in contrast to the overly broad description of federal jurisdiction on which the Opinion is based, the retained powers of the federal government are expressly and narrowly limited to certain discrete areas under 29 C.F.R. § 1952.172, subdivision (b), such as maritime

activities, which are not applicable in the present case. The Opinion does not address the important impact of the expressly limited reservations of federal jurisdiction. Yet, when the relevant statutes and regulations confirm an express intention to limit federal jurisdiction, as here, "deference should be paid to Congress's detailed attempt to clearly define the scope of preemption" and it must be inferred that "Congress intended to preempt no more" than expressly indicated. (*Farm Raised Salmon*, *supra*, at pp.1091-1092 [internal citations omitted].)

With respect to the federal OSHA oversight function (which the Opinion solely relies upon to find an intent to preempt the claims here), 29 C.F.R. 1952.172, subdivisions (b) and (c), expressly confirm that no federal enforcement jurisdiction was retained under this authority. Instead, OSHA is expressly required to take affirmative steps to *resume* the exercise of federal enforcement in any area not otherwise expressly reserved when it finds it "necessary to assure occupational safety and health protection to employees in California" during its regular monitoring of California's state plan. (29 C.F.R. 1952.172, subds. (b)-(c); 29 U.S.C. 667, subd. (f).) There is no evidence of any intent by federal OSHA either to resume or undertake any enforcement jurisdiction in relation to any of the alleged violations of California law in this case.

The mere fact that the federal government engages in an oversight function, therefore, does not signal an intent to preempt state actions.

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