No. S222314



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SOLUS INDUSTRIAL INNOVATIONS, LLC; EMERSON POWER TRANSMISSION CORPORATION; and EMERSON ELECTRIC CO.,

Petitioners.

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOR THE COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Parties in Interest.

From an Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division 3, No. G047661 SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 2 4 2014

Superior Court, County of Orange
Civil Case No. 30-2012-00581868-CU-MC-CXC Frank A. McGuire Clerk
The Honorable Kim G. Dunning, Department CX104

Deputy

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian A. Sun (SBN 89410)

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The District Attorney has not provided any compelling reason for this Court to grant review. As explained below, the Court of Appeal's opinion in this matter rests on a binding decision of the U.S. Supreme Court, the applicable federal statutes and regulations, the applicable state statutes and regulations, as well as cases decided by the California courts and the Ninth Circuit. The District Attorney has not cited a single opinion holding to the contrary. There is no evidence that other district attorneys need further guidance in this matter. And, to the extent district attorneys may need such guidance, they can turn to the well-reasoned opinion of the Court of Appeal.

A. Federal Law Preempts All State Worker Health and Safety Standards Except to the Extent That the State Has Submitted its Plan to the Secretary of Labor and Obtained the Secretary's Approval of That Plan.

"Congress has the authority to preempt state law by virtue of the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution, which provides that 'laws of the United States . . . shall be the supreme law of the land; and the judges in every state shall be bound thereby, any thing in the Constitution or laws of any state to the contrary notwithstanding." (Washington Mutual Bank v. Superior Court (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 606, 612 (Washington Mutual), quoting U.S. Const., art. VI, cl. 2.)

In Gade v. National Solid Wastes Management Association, the U.S. Supreme Court determined that Congress enacted the OSH Act "to promote occupational safety and health while at the same time avoiding duplicative, and possibly counterproductive, regulation." (Gade, supra, 505 U.S. at p. 102.) To achieve these goals, the OSH Act "established a system of uniform federal occupational health and safety standards, but gave States the option of pre-empting federal regulations by developing their own occupational safety and health programs." (Ibid.)

But before a state may enforce its own occupational safety and health program, the OSH Act requires that state to obtain approval from the U.S. Secretary of Labor:

Any State which, at any time, desires to assume responsibility for development and enforcement therein of occupational

safety and health standards relating to any occupational safety or health issue with respect to which a Federal standard has been promulgated under section 655 of this title shall submit a State plan for the development of such standards and their enforcement.

(29 U.S.C. § 667, subd. (b), italics added.)

Based on its review of this statute, the U.S. Supreme Court concluded that "the OSH Act precludes *any* state regulation of an occupational safety or health issue with respect to which a federal standard has been established, unless a state plan has been submitted and approved" by the U.S. Secretary of Labor. (*Gade, supra*, 505 U.S. at p. 102, italics added.)

The U.S. Supreme Court noted further that "[a] state law also is preempted if it interferes with the *methods* by which the federal statute was designed to reach th[at] goal. . . . ' [Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 103, italics added.) Applying that principle to the OSH Act, the Court concluded that "States are not permitted to assume an enforcement role without the Secretary's approval" (*Id.* at p. 101.)

Further, the OSH Act completely preempts state law:

The scope of preemption in each area in which a federal standard has been promulgated is complete. All state regulations relating to the "issue" of a federal standard are preempted even if they do not conflict with the federal scheme.

(Industrial Truck, supra, 125 F.3d at p. 1310, citing Gade, supra, 505 U.S. at p. 103.)

Because Congress preempted state regulation of worker safety standards, a state can regulate worker safety only by obtaining the prior approval of the Secretary of Labor:

If a State wishes to regulate an issue of worker safety for which a federal standard is in effect, its only option is to obtain the prior approval of the Secretary of Labor, as described in [29 U.S.C. § 667(c)].

(Gade, supra, 505 U.S. at pp. 103–104.) As the Court of Appeal held in an earlier case, federal OSHA "permits a state to enforce its own OSHA regulations in areas subject to federal standards only after the state plan has been approved by Fed/OSHA." (Loskouski, supra, 4 Cal.App.4th at p. 456, italics added; see also Cal. Lab. Fed., supra, 221 Cal.App.3d at p. 1552 ["[U]nless a state occupational safety and health law is incorporated in an approved state plan, it will be preempted to the extent it covers subject matter as to which there is a federal standard."].)²

Finally, after a state has submitted its plan, it must follow the plan. It cannot submit one plan and then enforce a different plan. As the Ninth Circuit has explained, such an approach would make the Secretary of Labor's review of the plan meaningless:

[A] state may not submit some regulations on a worker safety issue to OSHA as part of its state plan and omit other

² See also 62 Fed.Reg. 31159, 31160 (June 6, 1997) ("The Occupational Safety and Health Act generally preempts any State occupational safety and health standard that addresses an issue covered by an OSHA standard, unless a State plan has been submitted and approved.").

regulations relating to the same issue from the plan. The omitted regulations, even if complementary to the OSH Act's scheme, are subject to the "background preemption" of the federal standard. . . . It would make the state plan approval requirement superfluous if a state could pick and choose which occupational health and safety regulations to submit to OSHA.

(Industrial Truck, supra, 125 F.3d at p. 1311, italics added; see also Cal. Lab. Fed., supra, 221 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1558–1559 [directing Cal/OSHA to add toxic chemical regulations to state plan and submit to U.S. Secretary of Labor for approval].)

Both the OSH Act and the federal regulations implementing the act provide for continued review and evaluation of state plans by the Secretary of Labor. (29 U.S.C. § 667, subd. (f); 29 C.F.R. § 1954.) The Secretary of Labor may withdraw approval of a state plan for several reasons, including a "determin[ation by the Secretary] that in the operation or administration of a State plan, or as a result of any modifications to a plan, there is a failure to comply substantially with any provision of the plan, including assurances contained in the plan." (29 C.F.R. § 1955.3(a)(3).)

As the Court of Appeal noted, "this retained federal power to approve or disapprove the state's laws . . . distinguishes the federal preemption scheme at issue here from the one recently considered by our Supreme Court in *Rose v. Bank of America* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 390 [*Rose*]." (Solus II, supra, 224 Cal.App.4th at p. 29.) Rose dealt with a federal statute (the Truth in Savings Act) with a savings clause that explicitly approved the

enforcement consistent state laws. (*Rose*, *supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 395.) By contrast, the OSH Act "saves" only those state laws submitted to and approved by the Secretary of Labor (29 U.S.C. § 667, subd. (b)) and provides for further federal oversight and approval (29 U.S.C. § 667, subd. (f)).³

B. California's Workplace Safety Plan Does Not Include Business and Professions Code Sections 17200 and 17500 and Does Not Provide for Enforcement by the District Attorney's Through Original Actions in the Superior Courts.

Acting under the authority granted by Congress, the Secretary of Labor has promulgated extensive regulations governing the submission, approval, and modification of state plans. (29 C.F.R. § 1902.)

California submitted its worker safety plan to the U.S. Secretary of Labor, who approved that plan. (29 C.F.R. § 1952.170 et seq. [subpart K].) The approved California plan calls for enforcement by Cal/OSHA, with administrative adjudications entrusted to the California Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Board:

The State's program will be enforced by the Division of Industrial Safety of the Department of Industrial Relations of the California Agriculture and Services Agency. . . .

³ The District Attorney cites *Olszewski v. Scripps Health* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 798, 816, as "finding no preemption under [a] similar federal state cooperative program." (Petn. at p. 18.) In fact, the Court held that federal law *did* preempt the California statutes at issue. (See *Olszewski*, at p. 826.)

Administrative adjudications will be the responsibility of the California Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Board.

(29 C.F.R.§ 1952.170(a).)

The California worker safety plan does *not* include, and has never included, Business and Professions Code sections 17200 or 17500. (See 29 C.F.R. § 1952, subpart K; see also *Kelly, supra,* 101 Fed.Appx. at p. 184 ["[Section] 17200 is not part of California's approved occupational health and safety plan."].)

Further, the approved plan does *not* provide for enforcement by the district attorneys through original civil actions filed in the superior courts. (See 29 C.F.R. § 1952.170(a); see generally 29 C.F.R. § 1952, subpart K.) Instead, the Legislature has specifically provided that *only* Cal/OSHA may seek civil penalties for violation of the regulations at issue: "The division [*i.e.*, Cal/OSHA] may impose a civil penalty against an employer as specified in Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 6423) of this part." (Lab. Code, § 6317.)

Moreover, California has *never* included in its plan *either* the challenged UCL laws *or* the enforcement of its plan through original actions brought by the district attorneys in the superior courts. (See 29 C.F.R. § 1952, subpart K; 29 C.F.R. § 1952.170(a).)

The District Attorney is simply not acting in accordance with the California plan, approved or otherwise. Federal law preempts such an

approach, which evades the system for submission and approval set out by Congress in 29 U.S.C. § 667. This conclusion follows from the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Gade*, in which Illinois enacted worker safety laws but did not submit them to the Secretary of Labor for approval. (See *Gade*, *supra*, 505 U.S. 88.)

In the Petition for Review, the District Attorney selectively quotes from the Court of Appeal's opinion to imply that the Court of Appeal misstates when the UCL was first enacted. Yet the opinion accurately notes that the UCL "in its current form" was enacted in 1977 (Stats. 1977, ch. 299, § 1, p. 1202), which is when the UCL was moved from former Civil Code section 3370.1 and recodified in the Business and Professions Code. And the opinion extensively discusses former Civil Code section 3370.1. (See *Solus II, supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1303-05.)

Moreover, the enactment date of the UCL does not change the fact that the UCL cannot be used to enforce workplace safety standards unless approved by the U.S. Secretary of Labor, and here they were not. This point is made throughout the Court of Appeal's opinion. (See, e.g., *Solus II, supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1305-1306.)

The District Attorney argues that the U.S. Secretary of Labor should be *presumed* to have known about former Civil Code section 3370.1, but the Court of Appeal correctly concluded that there was no basis for such a

presumption.⁴ Moreover, such presumed knowledge would be "insufficient to support an inference that the Secretary had *approved* the imposition of those penalties as part of California's plan," and thus preemption would still apply. (*Solus II, supra,* 229 Cal.App.4th at p. 1304.)

Given OSHA's requirement that the U.S. Secretary of Labor approve any state plan, the District Attorney's reliance on the "presumption against preemption" is similarly misplaced:

Because the OSH Act allows a state to avoid federal preemption only if it obtains federal approval of its own plan, it necessarily follows that a state has no authority to enact and enforce laws governing workplace safety which fall outside of that approved plan. The OSH Act expressly requires a state to comply with its approved plan, and allows the Secretary to rescind approval of the plan if the state fails to do so. (29 U.S.C., § 667(f).) Under this statutory scheme, we conclude the approved state plan operates, in effect, as a "safe harbor" within which the state may exercise its jurisdiction. It is only when the state stays within the terms of its approved plan, that its actions will not be preempted by federal law.

(Solus II, supra, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1306-1307 [distinguishing Farm Raised Salmon Cases (2009) 42 Cal.4th 1077].) For this reason, cases applying a "presumption against preemption" are distinguishable. (See, e.g., People ex rel. Harris v. Pac Anchor Transp., Inc. (2014) 59 Cal. 4th 772, 782, 784 [finding no preemption of the People's UCL claim under the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act of 1994 where the

⁴ Indeed, because the UCL predated California's worker safety plan, yet was not included as part of that plan, the most natural conclusion is that California did not consider the UCL to be part of its plan.

defendant's alleged misclassification of employees did not relate to "prices, routes, or services with respect to the transportation of property"].)

The District Attorney also mistakenly relies upon a string of criminal cases to argue that the UCL and FAL are not preempted by federal law. (See Petn. at p. 22.) The criminal cases cited by the District Attorney do not address the holding of *Gade* that a state's "authority to establish and enforce any laws in this area is *expressly conditioned* on submission of a proposed state plan to the Secretary—a plan which reflects not only the state's establishment of appropriate workplace safety requirements, but also the manner in which those requirements will be enforced and the remedies provided—and *the Secretary's approval* of that specific plan." (*Solus II*, *supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1305-1306.) Here, the People brought a criminal prosecution against certain Solus employees, and there was no argument that those criminal claims were preempted.

Finally, the District Attorney claims that the Court of Appeal did not adequately analyze whether federal law preempts the FAL independently of whether federal law preempts the UCL. (Petn. at p. 15.) Yet the District Attorney's FAL claims are based upon allegations that Solus falsely advertised its compliance with the same workplace safety standards upon which the District Attorney's UCL claims are based. As a result, the same preemption analysis applies to the District Attorney's UCL and FAL claims.

C. The District Attorney's Attempted Justifications Lack Any Merit

As noted above, the District Attorney has failed to cite a single statute, case, or other precedent that supports his attempt to invest himself with the authority that was granted to Cal/OSHA. Instead, the District Attorney attempts to reframe the question to try to avoid the force of *Gade*. These attempts fail.

1. Federal Law Preempts Methods of Enforcement Inconsistent with 29 U.S.C. § 667 and the Federal Regulations Implementing That Statute.

The District Attorney argues (1) that California in general may enforce its worker safety standards and (2) that federal law does not preempt the method by which California may enforce those standards. Specifically, he argues that there is no "time, place or manner' preemption." (Petn. at p. 31.)

The District Attorney's first proposition is correct, but only so far as it goes. California may enforce its own worker safety standards—but only to the extent that the Secretary of Labor has approved both the *content* of its standards and the *method* by which the state intends to enforce those standards. (See 29 U.S.C. § 667, subd. (b).) The U.S. Supreme Court made that point clear in *Gade*: "A state law also is pre-empted if it interferes with the *methods* by which the federal statute was designed to

reach th[at] goal." (*Gade, supra*, 505 U.S. at p. 103, italics added.)⁵
Applying that principle to the OSH Act, the Supreme Court concluded that "States are not permitted to assume an enforcement role without the Secretary's approval" (*Id.* at p. 101.) The OSH Act sets out the only method by which a state may enforce its worker safety standards—that is, in accordance with a plan submitted to and approved by the Secretary of Labor. (29 U.S.C. § 667, subd. (b).) The OSH Act's "background preemption" preempts any contrary methods. (See *Industrial Truck, supra*, 125 F.3d at p. 1311.)

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